IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SCOO-1186

MATTHEW MARSHALL,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MELISSA MINSK DONOHO
SPECIAL ASSISTANT CCRC-SOUTH
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 955700
COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

LEOR VELEANU STAFF ATTORNEY CCRC-SOUTH FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0139191

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL
COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL- SOUTH
101 N.E. 3rd AVENUE, SUITE 400
FORT LAUDERDALE, FL 33301
(954) 713-1284

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

<u>Trial</u>

Mr. Marshall was charged by indictment dated February 16, 1989 with first degree murder. Both Mr. Marshall and the victim, Jeffrey Henry, were inmates at the Martin Correctional Institute at the time of the crime for which Appellant was convicted. Appellant pled not guilty and presented a theory of self-defense at trial. Appellant's trial was held in November and December of 1989. A jury returned a verdict of guilty on first degree murder. At the penalty phase, Appellant's father was scheduled by trial counsel to testify but he failed to surface. Trial counsel was permitted to proffer Appellant's father's anticipated testimony which included that "Mr. Marshall did well in school until his early teens when his older brother influenced him to run the streets and break the law; that Mr. Marshall's mother did not discipline Marshall and allowed him to believe there would be no consequences for his behavior; and that Marshall's father loved him and

requested a life sentence for his son." (PC-R 14). Trial counsel presented no mental health witnesses, no live testimony from family members, and after being questioned on the record by the trial judge, Appellant waived his right to present any statutory mitigation. The Appellant also waived his right to the judge reading and presenting to the jury for their consideration jury instructions on the statutory mitigators. (R. 2773).

Following the conclusion of the penalty phase, the jury recommended a life sentence without possibility of parole for 25 years. On December 12, 1989, the trial court overrode the jury's life recommendation and sentenced Appellant to death. The trial Judge found the information proffered by trial counsel regarding Appellant's father's anticipated testimony not to be mitigating. The trial judge did find as mitigation the fact that Appellant behaved well at trial and the fact that he entered prison at a young age. (PC-R. 14).

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the conviction and sentence, specifically finding that the "record in this case contains insufficient evidence to reasonably support the jury's recommendation of life. Marshall v. State, 604 So. 2d 799 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 113 U.S. 2355 (1993). Chief Justice Barkett, and Justices Kogan and Shaw concurred in the affirmance of guilt but found that "reasonable people could differ as to the appropriateness of the death penalty, and the court's override was therefore improper." Id.

Post-Conviction

On January 29, 1999, Appellant filed his final amended 3.850 motion which raised twenty-seven claims. On March 29, 1999, the State filed its response. After the circuit court held a Huff hearing on April 14, 1999, the court ordered an evidentiary hearing on three of Appellant's claims. Two of the three claims involved allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase, the other claim for which a hearing was granted involved a Brady violation affecting the guilt phase of the trial. Counsel for Appellant argued at the Huff hearing that Claim IX in his Rule 3.850 motion, which specifically alleged that Appellant was denied a fair trial due to a biased and impartial jury, required evidentiary development.

The order following the <u>Huff</u> hearing found claims I, V, IX, XXI, XXII, XXVI and XXVII do not warrant an evidentiary hearing "because the motion and record in this case conclusively show that Defendant is not entitled to relief." "Claim IX is specifically denied as the allegations alleged in the attached affidavits inhered in the verdict." (PC-R 1829). Claims II, IV, VI, VII, VIII, X, XII, XIII, XIV, XV, XVI,

^{1.} Huff v. State, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993)

^{2. &}lt;u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

XVIII, XIX, XX, XIV, and XV3 were found by the circuit court to be procedurally barred and did not warrant a hearing. The circuit court ordered a evidentiary hearing on Claims III, XI, XVII, XXIII. There were no files or records attached in support of the order. Beginning on August 23, 1999, the Circuit Court conducted an evidentiary hearing lasting three days. In support of his allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase, Appellant presented testimony from a psychiatrist, Dr. George Woods, a neuro-psychologist Dr. Ruth Latterner, three of Mr. Marshall's brothers who were raised in the same household as Mr. Marshall, five cousins of Mr. Marshall each of whom spent time visiting or living in Mr. Marshall's childhood home, lead trial counsel Cliff Barnes as well as the second chair attorney at trial David Golden. In support of the <u>Brady</u> claim, Appellant called as witnesses inmate George Mendoza, inmate David Marshall (no relation to the appellant), and former Department of Corrections employee Kerry Flack. The State presented as witnesses investigator Ed Sobach, investigator Howard Riggins, the trial prosecutor John Spiller, and Dr. Joel Klass, the psychiatrist appointed by the trial court to assist Appellant at trial.

After both the State and Appellant submitted post-hearing memorandum, the Circuit Court issued an order on April 18, 2000 denying

³. It is apparent that the last numerals referred to as XIV and XV was an error and were intended by the lower court to be XXIV and XXV.

Appellant's Rule 3.850 motion. After timely filing his Notice of Appeal, this Appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

- 1. Mr. Marshall maintains the necessity of an evidentiary hearing and/or relief in the form of a new trial or penalty phase on numerous claims raised in his Rule 3.850 Motion. However, Claim IX, the jury misconduct claim particularly requires evidentiary development. Claim IX states that Mr. Marshall's due process rights were violated when he was deprived of his right to a fair and impartial trial by jury. (PC-R.1598) Although claim IX contained specific allegations to the jury being tainted by racial remarks, racist jokes and the reading of newspaper articles in violation of the judges orders, the lower court denied a hearing on Claim IX because "the allegations alleged in the attached affidavits inhered in the verdict." (PC-R 1829). The lower court failed to attach any files or records refuting Mr. Marshall's allegations. The lower court's denial of an evidentiary hearing regarding the deprivation of a fair and impartial jury interconnects with other claims including Mr. Marshall's claim of innocence of first degree murder which was supported by the juror affidavits. The motion, files and records in this claim do not conclusively show that Mr. Marshall is entitled to no relief.
- 2. The lower court erred in denying Mr. Marshall's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase, as well as

trial counsel's failure to secure a competent mental health expert to assist at both the guilt and penalty phases of trial. The lower court denied relief notwithstanding that the factual findings in his order denying relief conclusively demonstrate that trial counsel failed to conduct a reasonable investigation of Mr. Marshall's background, unreasonably failed to investigate and present available statutory and non-statutory mitigation, and unreasonably failed to obtain a competent mental health expert despite clear indications of psychological disorders. The lower court erred by stating in conclusory language, that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to send an investigator to Liberty City, the ghetto where Mr. Marshall was raised. The lower court also erred by simply concluding that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to call Dr. Klass as a witness. The lower court failed to consider the reasonableness of trial counsel's decisions. In lieu of any files or records or evidence demonstrating that Mr. Marshall is entitled to no relief, the lower court's order simply offers conclusory language that trial counsel was not ineffective.

3. The lower court erred in finding that the State did not withhold exculpatory information that a State's key witness was offered a deal to testify against Mr. Marshall in violation of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>. The lower court further erred in finding that the State did

not knowingly present false testimony at trial4. Both George Mendoza, who testified at trial, and David Marshall who gave the State information and sworn testimony before a grand jury, testified at the evidentiary hearing that they were offered a promise to be housed together if they testified against Matthew Marshall. This promise to be housed together was never disclosed to the defense, nor was George Mendoza prevented by the State from falsely testifying at trial that he was not promised anything in exchange for his testimony. Contrary to the lower court's conclusion that there was no promise to be housed together, Mr. Marshall presented unrefuted evidence that George Mendoza and David Marshall were indeed not only housed in the same institution, but in the same prison cell over the course of nearly ten years. Evidence was presented and unrefuted that within a few days after testifying in front of the grand jury, both George Mendoza and David Marshall were transferred to Avon Park Correctional Institution where they shared a cell for eight and a half years. After which, they were both transferred to Lake Correctional Institution where they shared a cell for an additional ten months. The lower court's acceptance of the State's position that no promises were made is simply unreasonable in light of the evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing.

⁴ The deliberate deception of a court and jurors by presentation of known false evidence is incompatible with the rudimentary demands of justice. <u>Giglio v. United States</u>, 150 U.S. 150,153 (1972).

- 4. The lower court erred by failing to conduct a proper cumulative error analysis. The order denying relief simply asserts in conclusory language that the cumulative effect of all of Mr. Marshall's claims and the evidence admitted to support them does not show the defendant is entitled to relief. Notwithstanding this inadequate conclusion, the sheer number of errors at trial, the issues raised on direct appeal, the improper override of the jury's recommendation of a life sentence, the ineffective assistance of counsel Appellant received at both the guilt and penalty phases, the Brady and Gilglio violations, the deprivation of due process suffered by Appellant from being denied a competent mental health expert, and all of the claims for which Appellant did not receive an evidentiary hearing, cumulatively indicate that Appellant's conviction and sentence are unreliable.
- 5. The lower court erred by summarily denying meritorious claims. The lower court's order denying post-conviction relief fails to provide any reason for denying Appellant's Rule 3.850 claims for which no evidentiary hearing was held. There were no records attached to the order, and aside from Claim IX, there was no rationale provided for why these claims should be denied without an evidentiary hearing.

This Court has stated many times that under rule 3.850, a movant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless the motion, files, and

records conclusively show that the movant is not entitled to relief. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850(d); e.g. Provenzano v. Dugger, 561 So.2d 541, 543 (Fla. 1990); Harich v. State, 484 So.2d 1239, 1240 (Fla. 1986), O'Callaghan v. State, 461 So.2d 1354, 1355 (Fla. 1985). To support summary denial without a hearing, a trial court must either state it's rationale in its decision or attach those specific parts of the record that refute each claim presented in the motion. Anderson v. State, 627 So.2d 1170, 1171 (Fla. 1993); citing Hoffman v. State, 571 So.2d 449, 450 (Fla. 1990) (Hoffman I).

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

ARGUMENT I

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON MR. MARSHALL'S CLAIM OF JUROR MISCONDUCT.

Matthew Marshall's Motion alleged that he was denied his right to a fair an impartial jury based on juror misconduct. Claim IX specifically asserts that racial remarks, racial jokes and use of non-evidentiary outside materials by the jury deprived Matthew Marshall of due process and his right to a fair and impartial trial by jury. (PC-R.1598) Post-conviction counsel asserted Mr. Marshall's right to an

evidentiary hearing on Claim IX at the <u>Huff</u> hearing. Counsel stated, "...the main claim that I'm also interested in the court taking evidence on, is Claim 9 which is the juror misconduct issue ..."(2nd Supp. PC-R. 1912). Despite the fact that Claim IX contained these specific allegations that the jury was tainted by racial remarks, racist jokes and the reading of newspaper articles in violation of the judge's orders, the lower court denied Mr. Marshall's request for an evidentiary hearing. For reasons not specifically explained, the lower court found these allegations "...inhered in the verdict." (PC-R. 1829)

Attached to Claim IX is a signed affidavit by a member of the Florida Bar, Ronald B. Smith, who had no involvement in Mr. Marshall's case. Mr. Smith's affidavit presents specific allegations of racial bias and other jury misconduct as follows:

- I, RONALD B. SMITH, duly licensed to practice law in the State of Florida since 1977, and having been duly sworn or affirmed, do hereby depose and say:
- 1. After the trial of Matthew Marshall, I received a telephone call from a woman who was calling in reference to a client of mine to whom she was related.
- 2. In the course of our conversation, she became upset and said she would never serve on another jury. She had told me she had served on a jury for the Matthew Marshall trial which she said was a trial about an inmate who had been killed. She went on to say that she was appalled by what the jurors were doing during that trial. She said some jurors decided before the trial was over that Matthew Marshall was guilty. She said some jurors told jokes about Matthew Marshall. She

said the joking was racial. 3. She also said that before the end of the first phase of the trial, some jurors had announced that they were going to vote for a guilty verdict and a life sentence because they wanted Matthew Marshall to go back to prison and kill more black inmates. 4. She also said that the judge told them not to read anything about the trial or watch anything on television about the trial. Then she said that some jurors did read articles about the

5. This woman was really upset because everyone on the jury had taken an oath and now she was not sure what to think about the jury system.

trial and talked with each other about the

articles they had read.

6. I have made attempts to remember the name of this woman and simply cannot recall it.

(PC-R.1708-1710).

After these facts emerged, a few jurors were contacted before a lower court enjoined any further jury interviews. The affidavits which were obtained further bolster Mr. Smith's affidavit regarding jury misconduct. The statements from the jurors indicate that the conviction was based on a "deal" and "trade-off." (PC-R.1711-1712, 1713-1714) Juror Judy Cunningham stated:

- 2. During the course of the guilt phase deliberations, I told the other jurors that I did not believe that the state had proven their case beyond a reasonable doubt. I was not sure Mr. Marshall was guilty as charged. I also made it clear to other jurors that I would not vote for death in this case.
- 3. I only compromised my true feelings regarding the case because the other jurors did not want a hung jury to result. I voted for first degree murder only when it was agreed that there would be a vote for life recommendation and it would be unanimous. At least I was relieved of the worry that Mr. Marshall would be executed.

(PC-R. 1713-1714).

The lower court's denial of Matthew Marshall's motion was a fundamental error. The evidence presented in the affidavits required an evidentiary hearing based on the overt acts of juror misconduct. Indeed, based solely on the affidavits presented, the lower court should have immediately ordered a new trial.

Florida's evidence code holds that jurors are not competent to testify as to any matter which "inheres" in the verdict. Fla. Stat. s 90.607 (2)(b). (1997). Notwithstanding this rule, this Court has consistently held that jurors are permitted to testify about "overt acts which might have prejudicially affected the jury in reaching their decision." Powell v. Allstate Insurance Company, 652 So.2d 354, 356(Fla. 1995). See State v. Hamilton, 574 So.2d 124 (Fla. 1991).

In a series of cases, this court and others have explained the types of misconduct which do not inhere in the verdict and constitute error. The two most egregious and prejudicial acts of juror misconduct are racial remarks and the reference to outside sources such as newspaper articles. Both these types of misconduct occurred during Matthew Marshall's trial as reflected in Mr. Smith's affidavit. In Powell, this Court held that racial jokes made by an all white jury about a black plaintiff constituted overt acts which tainted the jury's verdict. Powell at 357. In Powell, this Court held that:

[I]t would be improper, after a verdict is rendered, to individually inquire into the

thought processes of a juror to seek to discover some bias in the juror's mind, like the racial bias involved here, as a possible motivation for that particular juror to act as she did. Those innermost thoughts, good and bad, truly inhere in the verdict. But when appeals to racial bias are made openly among the jurors, they constitute overt acts of misconduct. This is one way that we attempt to draw a bright line.

This court declared "the issue of racial, ethnic, and religious bias in the courts is not simply a matter of political correctness to be brushed aside by a thick-skinned judiciary." <u>Id</u>. at 357.

In <u>United States v. Heller</u>, 785 F.2d 1524 (11th Cir.1986), jurors made anti-semitic jokes and told stories using the word "nigger" during deliberations. The judge learned of this information and ordered deliberations to cease. After asking the jury if they could still deliberate fairly, he allowed deliberations to continue. <u>Id</u>. On appeal, the Eleventh Circuit reversed concluding that "comments made by the jurors displayed the sort of bigotry that clearly denied the defendant, Heller, the fair and impartial jury that the constitution mandates." Id. at 1527.

The racist comments alleged in Ronald B. Smith's affidavit certainly rise to the level of overt acts of jury misconduct. In 1995, the Court in Wright v. CTL Distribution, INC., 650 So. 2d 641, 642 (2nd DCA 1995), relying on Powell and Baptist Hospital of Miami, Inc. v. Maler, 579 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 1991), ordered an evidentiary hearing when a juror came forward and confessed that during deliberations, "she heard

several members of the jury say they did not want to award anything to a fat black woman on welfare who would simply blow the money on liquor, cigarettes, jai alai, bingo, or the dog track." Relying on Powell, the court "found the making of racial jokes and racially biased statements by jurors to each other to be overt acts of misconduct rather than misconduct which inheres in the verdict." Id. at 643.

The racial remarks alleged in Ronald B. Smith's affidavit are of the type so insidious and filled with racist contempt that it is impossible to believe Appellant's jury was fair and impartial. Furthermore, racial jokes in the context of jury deliberations should not be taken lightly in any proceeding much less in a first degree murder case where the defendant's life is literally on the line. The jurors in Mr. Marshall's case did not keep their racial bias in their own minds, instead, they openly made racial jokes and stated that Mr. Marshall should be sent back to prison so that he could kill more black inmates.

The jurors in this case also consulted non-evidentiary material in direct contravention of the trial court's instructions. This misconduct also warrants a new trial. In another series of cases this court and others have determined which kinds of information received by the jury from outside the courtroom do not inhere in the verdict. This Court in <u>Devoney v. State</u>, 717 So. 2d 501 (Fla. 1998), surveyed the kinds of jury misconduct which justified "an attack upon a jury

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