IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MATTHEW MARSHALL,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. SC00-1186

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA

_____/

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEBRA RESCIGNO ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR NO. 0836907 1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD. SUITE 300 WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409 (561) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

to protect the identity of the witness, who feared reprisals from the inmate population for becoming a "snitch" by testifying for the State. Marshall argues that his right to cross-examination was infringed and that the jury was allowed to infer that he personally posed a threat to the witness because the jury was never apprised of the reason for the witness's anonymity. The record reveals that the court stated that it would not offer a curative instruction on own initiative but that it would its entertain a request by the defense; defense counsel declined. Because the defense was affirmatively presented with the opportunity to request a curative instruction and chose not to do so, Marshall cannot now complain that the jury was never informed of the reason for the number procedure.

Furthermore, the defense always knew the true name and identity of this witness, and therefore the fact that the witness testified as "Number 29" did not hamper cross-examination or the defense's ability investigate the background of to the witness. Cf. Smith v. Illinois, 390 U.S. 129, 88 S.Ct. 748, 19 L.Ed.2d 956 (1968) (right to cross-examination significantly infringed where defense was not provided name or address of witness). Contrary to Marshall's assertions, we do not find the jury was led to believe that a threat of reprisal from Marshall was the reason for the witness testifying anonymously. Cf. Ponticelli v. State, 593 So.2d 483 (Fla.1991) (fear of reprisal from general inmate population unlikely to imply witness reprisal from defendant). feared We therefore find Marshall is not entitled to relief on this issue.

Marshall v. State, 604 So.2d 799, 802-3 (Fla. 1992) (emphasis

added).

This claim is procedurally barred. Robinson v. State, 707

So.2d 688, 700 (Fla. 1998) (finding argument regarding jury instruction on weighing testimony procedurally barred since issue was raised and rejected on direct appeal). The trial court correctly denied it without an evidentiary hearing.

In Claim VII, Appellant alleges ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to prosecutorial misconduct in opening statement. Despite counsel's failure to object, Appellant raised this issue on direct appeal:

> Finally, we reject Marshall's claim that the prosecutor made comments vouching for the credibility of state witnesses during opening statement that his were so prejudicial as to require a new trial. included These comments the State's assertion that the State had overcome great obstacles in getting inmates to "truthfully tell what has occurred," and that inmates operate under a "code of silence" but that they have "a residual core of humanity." The record shows that the defense neither objected nor requested а curative instruction nor moved for mistrial. Because these remarks do not constitute fundamental error, this issue is not cognizable in this appeal.

Marshall v. State, 604 So.2d 799, 805 (Fla. 1992).

Despite Appellant's attempt to recast this claim as one of ineffective assistance of counsel, it nevertheless remains procedurally barred. As this Court said in <u>Medina v. State</u>, 573 So.2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990), "it is inappropriate to use a different argument to relitigate the same issue." <u>See also</u> <u>Valle v. State</u>, 705 So.2d 1331 (Fla. 1997) (finding claim that

counsel was ineffective for failing to object to alleged prosecutorial misconduct procedurally barred and an improper attempt to recast barred claim as one of ineffectiveness); <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 707 So.2d 688, 697-98 n.17 (Fla. 1998) (same).

Regardless, this Court found on direct appeal that the State's comments were not fundamentally erroneous, i.e., that they did not vitiate the entire proceedings. As a result, Appellant cannot prove under <u>Strickland</u> that he was prejudiced by these same comments, i.e., that "but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." <u>Cf. White v. State</u>, 559 So.2d 1097 (Fla. 1990) (finding no prejudice from counsel's failure to object where court had rejected fundamental error challenge on direct appeal).

Finally, even were this claim not procedurally barred, the record conclusively refutes it. First, the State's main inmate witness, Frank Calabria, whom the State called last, was no longer incarcerated. Therefore, any comment regarding how difficult it is to get inmates to testify because of their incarceration status did not apply to him.

Second, Calabria, whose testimony appears at p. 2420 (trial transcript), established the State's case. He testified as follows: Calabria heard loud muffled noises from the air shaft

connecting to victim's cell below. He immediately got up, went downstairs and saw a towel over the window of the victim's cell. He saw the Defendant leave the cell after the noises stopped. The Defendant was naked from waist up and sweating. Calabria saw blood on Defendant's arms, chest and hands. He saw the Defendant stop at a pile of linen that was sitting on the floor and pick up a blue state-issue jacket. He saw the Defendant leave the sallyport. He later saw the Defendant re-enter the victim's cell and close the door immediately behind him. Again, Calabria heard loud moaning noises for four to five minutes which he recognized to be the voice of the victim. After five minutes it became quiet, and he saw the Defendant come out of the cell and close the door immediately behind him. Aqain Calabria saw blood on the Defendant. The Defendant went to the sallyport, crouched down, and snuck out once again. No other state witness provided this amount of detail.

The record, specifically the comments complained of at p. 1590 and the testimony of Frank Calabria at p. 2420, conclusively refutes the Defendant's claim. Therefore, the trial court properly denied Appellant's claim without an evidentiary hearing.

In Claim VIII, Appellant argues that the "felony murder" aggravating factor is unconstitutional because it creates an "automatic" aggravator upon a conviction for first-degree murder

based on a felony murder theory. The record reflects that trial counsel filed a motion to declare this aggravating factor unconstitutional, and this Court denied it. R. 179. Then, Marshall raised this issue on direct appeal, and this court denied it. <u>Marshall v. State</u>, 604 So.2d 799, 805 n.5 (Fla. 1992). Therefore, this claim is procedurally barred. <u>Medina v.</u> <u>State</u>, 573 So.2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990).

To the extent Marshall claims in a single conclusory sentence that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to raise this claim, "it is inappropriate to use a different argument to relitigate the same issue." <u>Id.</u> Regardless, trial counsel <u>did</u> challenge this aggravator. Thus, he cannot be deemed ineffective. As a result, the trial court properly denied the claim without an evidentiary hearing.

In Claim X, Marshall complains about the State's closing argument wherein the prosecutor stated, "By his crime upon Jeffrey Henry we now know that even the prisoners in the State of Florida cannot be safe with that man in their presence." Marshall contends that the State argued Marshall's future dangerousness as nonstatutory aggravation. This claim is procedurally barred, however, since Marshall could have raised it on direct appeal. <u>See Medina v. State</u>, 573 So.2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990). To the extent Marshall alleges ineffective assistance of counsel to overcome the bar, this is improper.

<u>Id.</u> He may not recast a barred claim as one of ineffectiveness of counsel. <u>Id.</u>

Regardless, the State's comment was not improper. It related to the aggravating circumstance of a murder being committed by a person under sentence of imprisonment. Also, the comment was made to a jury who recommended a life sentence. Even if the comment were improper and trial counsel failed to object, no prejudice can be shown.

Collateral counsel also claims that the trial court, by referencing Defendant's prior escape conviction in its sentencing order, based his sentence of death on a consideration of future dangerousness. The trial court's sentencing order, however, shows that it considered the Defendant's prior escape as an additional prior violent felony. As stated above, the prior escape involved the Defendant's brother showing up in a Miami courtroom with a gun to free the Defendant. This issue was raised and litigated on appeal. With regard to this issue the Florida Supreme stated:

> Turning to the penalty phase, Marshall first alleges numerous errors in the judge's sentencing order that require a new penalty phase. We agree that the trial court erred in its consideration of a prior conviction for escape. Defense counsel had expressly waived the mitigating circumstance of no significant prior criminal history, and a conviction for escape does not qualify as a statutory aggravating factor of "another capital felony or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence" under section

921.141(5)(b), Florida Statutes (1987). <u>Lewis v. State</u>, 398 So.2d 432, 438 (Fla.1981). However, in light of Marshall's other nine prior violent felony convictions, we find the error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

<u>Marshall v. State</u>, 604 So.2d 799, 805 (Fla. 1992). Therefore, this claim is procedurally barred. A motion for post conviction relief is not a forum to relitigate appellate issues. <u>Medina</u>, 573 So.2d at 295.

In Claim XII, Appellant complains that this Court failed to properly evaluate the mitigation in this case. In this claim, collateral counsel proceeds to reargue for a life sentence. The trial court has no ability to question this Court's review of Appellant's sentence; thus, it was not a proper claim for post conviction relief. <u>Hardwick v. Dugger</u>, 648 So. 2d 100, 103 (Fla. 1994) ("[T]he trial court has no authority to review the actions of [the Florida Supreme] Court."); <u>Maharaj v. State</u>, 684 So.2d 726, 728 (Fla.1996); <u>Johnson v. Singletary</u>, 695 So.2d 263, 265 (Fla.1996); Robinson v. State, 707 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1998).

In Claim XIII, Appellant complains that this Court improperly applied the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating factor. This claim was raised on appeal:

> Marshall next argues that the trial court erred in finding the murder to be heinous, atrocious, or cruel. The record shows that Marshall attacked the victim twice, and that the victim was at least partially conscious during the second attack. He was struck six times on the back

of the head, and witnesses heard him plead for mercy. We find this circumstance supported by the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt.

<u>Marshall v. State</u>, 604 So.2d 799,805 (Fla. 1992). Therefore, it is procedurally barred.

In Claim XIV, Appellant alleges that the trial court's instructions to the jury improperly shifted the burden to him to prove that death was not an appropriate sentence. This claim is procedurally barred since Appellant could have raised it on Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990) appeal. ("Allegations of ineffective assistance cannot be used to circumvent the rule that postconviction proceedings cannot serve as a second appeal."). To overcome the bar, Appellant claims that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to raise this issue in the trial court. It is improper, however, to recast a barred claim as ineffective assistance of counsel. Id. Regardless, counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to raise a nonmeritorious claim. See Chandler v. Dugger, 634 So. 2d 1066, 1067 (Fla. 1994). This Court has repeatedly rejected similar claims by other defendants. E.q., Brown v. State, 565 So. 2d 304, 308 (Fla. 1990) ("Contrary to Brown's contention, we do not find that, on their totality, the standard instructions impermissibly put any particular burden of proof on capital defendants.").

In Claim XV, Appellant once again seeks to reargue the

merits of whether an override was appropriate in this case. This claim is procedurally barred. <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 707 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1998); <u>Maharaj v. State</u>, 684 So.2d 726, 728 (Fla.1996); <u>Johnson v. Singletary</u>, 695 So.2d 263, 265 (Fla.1996).

In Claim XVI, Appellant claims that the trial court rendered defense counsel ineffective when it failed to grant his motion for a larger jury venire. This is an appellate issue couched in language of ineffective assistance of counsel. As such, it is procedurally barred. <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 707 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1998); <u>Maharaj v. State</u>, 684 So.2d 726, 728 (Fla.1996); <u>Johnson v. Singletary</u>, 695 So.2d 263, 265 (Fla.1996).

In Claim XVIII, Appellant argues that he is innocent of first-degree murder since the record shows that he committed this murder in self-defense. This claim does not allege any newly discovered evidence; it simply reargues the trial evidence. As such it is procedurally barred. <u>Robinson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 707 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1998); <u>Maharaj v. State</u>, 684 So.2d 726, 728 (Fla.1996); <u>Johnson v. Singletary</u>, 695 So.2d 263, 265 (Fla.1996).

Also in this claim, Marshall argues that he is innocent of the death penalty. To support this claim, he contends that his "heinous, atrocious, or cruel" instruction is unconstitutional, that the "felony murder" aggravating factor, standing alone,

cannot support a death sentence, and that his sentence is disproportionate to those of other defendants under similar circumstances. His claims regarding the HAC instruction and the "felony murder" aggravator is procedurally barred since he should have raised these issues on appeal. Pope v. State, 702 So.2d 221 (Fla. 1997) (finding constitutional challenge to HAC instruction procedurally barred unless specific objection is made at trial on that ground and pursued on appeal); <u>Harvey v.</u> Dugger, 656 So.2d 1253, 1258 (Fla. 1995). As for the proportionality of his sentence, this too is procedurally barred since he raised this issue on appeal: "Finally, we do not find the death sentence disproportionate in this case. The facts of this case, including the four strong aggravating circumstances compared to the weak mitigation, render the death sentence appropriate and proportional when compared to other cases. Accordingly, we affirm Marshall's conviction for first-degree murder and the resulting death sentence." Marshall v. State, 604 So.2d 799, 806 (Fla. 1992) (citations omitted).

In claim XIX, Appellant claims that his death sentence is based on unconstitutional prior convictions and that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to litigate this claim. He does not support this claim, however, with any specific allegations. He claims that he is unable to do so because collateral counsel has insufficient funds to investigate this

claim. This claim is therefore conclusory and facially insufficient. <u>Knight v. State</u>, 394 So.2d 997, 1001 (Fla. 1981).

In Claim XX, Appellant alleges that Florida's death penalty statute, section 921.141, is unconstitutional. This claim is procedurally barred. It was raised by trial counsel and litigated on direct appeal: "We reject Marshall's claims that the death penalty statute and the aggravating circumstances are unconstitutional." <u>Marshall v. State</u>, 604 So.2d 799, 805 n.5 (Fla. 1992).

In Claim XXIV, Appellant alleges that charging him with both premeditated and first-degree felony murder violated his constitutional rights. He concedes that he raised this claim on direct appeal. It is therefore procedurally barred. То overcome the bar, Marshall claims that recent case law authorizes reconsideration of this claim. Specifically, he urges that the issue must be re-addressed in light of Schad v. Arizona, 501 U.S. 624 (1991). Schad does not change the law in this area. Schad does not warrant readdressing this issue. In <u>Schad</u>, the United States Supreme Court was presented with two questions: whether a first-degree murder conviction under jury instructions that did not require agreement on whether the defendant was guilty of premeditated murder or felony murder is unconstitutional, and whether the principle recognized in Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625 (1980), entitles a defendant to

instructions on all offenses that are lesser than and included within a capital offense as charged. The Court answered each question in the negative.

Marshall seeks access to Grand Jury testimony to determine which theory the Grand Jury relied upon. This request is unnecessary and improper.

Appellant's last claim, Claim XXV, alleges that Appellant is "insane" and cannot be executed. Appellant conceded in his 3.850 motion that this issue is not ripe and the claim was properly summarily denied.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, the State requests that this Honorable Court **AFFIRM** the trial court's order denying Appellant's motion for postconviction relief.